
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

1:20-mj-04258-ReidCASE NO
.

IN RE SEALED COM PLAINT

CRIM INAL COVER SHEET

1. Did this m atter originate from a m atter pending in the Central Region of the United Sutes

Attomey's Oftice priorto August 9, 20 13 (Mag. Judge Alicia Valle)? -  Yes X No

2. Did this matter originate from a maûer pending in the Northern Region of the United States

Attomey's Office priorto August 8, 2014(Mag. Judge ShaniekMaynard)? Yes X No

3. Did this m atter originate from a m atter pending in the Central Region of the United S'tatœ

Attomey's Officepriorto October3, 20 19 (Mag. Judge Jared Strauss)? Yes X No

Respectfully subm itted,

ARIANA FAJARDO ORSHAN

UNITED STATES AU ORNEY

BY: s/Amandaperwin

Amanda Pem in

Assistantunited States Attorney

Southem District of Florida
Florida BarNo. 468 14

99 Northemst 4th Street, 4th Floor

M iami, Florida 33132-2 11 1
Telephone: 305-96 1-906 1

E-mail: Amanda.perwin@usdoj.gov
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AO 91 (Rcv. 08X)9) Criminal Complaint

UM TED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

Southern District of Florida

United States Of America

V.

DAVID C. COGGCNS,

)
)
) Case No. 1:20-mj-04258-Reid
)
)
)

Defendtnttls)

CRIM INAL COMPLAINT BY TELEPHONE OR OTHER RELIABLE ELECTROM C M EANS

1, the complainam in this case, state tJIM the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

On or about the datets) of (xœmb.rzl. 2c1a*ro+ Jur-2:.2ox in the cotmty of Miami-Dade in the

Sqœ-Kern . ..-. District of - - - -.-. - -.Floriù.g.-.-- - --. , the defendantts) violated:

(7t?#t? Section t-l/./èz;5'E' Description

15 U.S.C. ââ 7%(b), 70 ., 17 C.F.R. â 240.10b-5 Securities Fraud

This crimiltal complaint is based otl these facts:

SEE AU ACHED AFFIDAVIT,

W Continued on the attached sheet.

*'

a 
'' 

-'' *'

/ ç.o yz/fzauaf 's â-jlpfrurc

-K#.it.h..C.-=N.&*@vm, U.qilqd. Statqpp. pglyllo#pqçtwpl--
Printed name and r/r/c

Attested to by the Applicant in accordance with the requirements of Fed.R.CHIn.P. 4. 1 by Face Tim e.

x. #

Date: December 29.2020

Judge ij si/-gnature

City afld state: 
... - - -- - . . wyj#.mj, Flqrig-q-.. . . --.-.. ..- . . - .-ljpp.:. L..i#g!,..M. .r Fmjdopnitqtcates.Mpgistrate zludqv.

Printed name and //?/e
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AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPO RT O F A CRIM INAL COM PLAINT

1, Keith C. Nusbaum , beingfirstduly swom  state:

AGENT BACKGRO UND AND INTRODUCTIO N

I am a United States Postal Inspector with the United States Postal Inspecéon

Service (11USPlS'') assired to the USPIS'S DOJ Fraud Team.1 am an investigator or law

enforcement oftker of the United States within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. j 25 1047)*, that is, 1 an

an officer of the United States who is em poweredto conduct investigations and to m ake arrests. I

have been aunited States Postal Inspector since February 20 16 and completed 12 weeks of basic

investigative training in Potomac, M aryland, which included various aspects of federal law

enforcement includingthe investigation of mail and wire fraud. I wms previously assir ed to the

W ashington Division Fraud Team working out of the Columbia, M aryland office of USPIS. My

primary responsibilities included investigating mailfraud, wire fraud, bank fraud, work-at-home

schemes, charity frau; creditcard fraud, investmentfraud,finrcial elder abuse, lotteryfrau; and

telem arketingfraud. As a mem ber of the USPIS'S DOJ Fraud Team, my responsibilities inchde

the investigation of mail fraud,wire frau; bank frau; and securities fraud.

'Ihis affidavit is m ade in support of a crim inal com plaint charging DAVID C

COGGINS CCCOGGINS''I with violations of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) & 78I

and Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 240. 1015 (Securities Fraud).

'Ihis affidavit is based on m y personal investigation and investigation by othem

includingfederallaw enforcementofficials whom Iknow to be reliable andtrustworthy. The facts

containedherein have beenobtainedby interviewingwim esses and exnminingdocuments obtakled

in the course of the investigation as well as through other means. This affidavit does not include
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every f actknown to m e aboutthis investigation, but rather only those facts sum cientto establtsh

probable cause.

Overview of the Schem e

4. 'Ihe United States is investigating an investm entfraud scheme in which COGGW S

m ade false shtem ents and provided fake documents, including an audit report, to lnvestor A.

COGGINS did so knowingly to induce Investor A into providing $200,0* in exchange for a

limited partnership in a fund managed exclusively by COGGINS.COGGINS did not invest the

funds as aveed, m isappropriated a portion of the funds, and has refusedto retunz the remaining

funds to Investor A.

Relevant Parties

5. COGGINS is 42 years o1d and a residm tof M iam i, Florida. He is also the founder

of Company A and the Fund, as describedbelow.

Company A is a Florida lim ited liability company form ed on or about Noveml r

4, 20 14, with its principal place of business in M iam i, Florida. It is the manager and investment

adviser of the Fund. COGGINS has listed him self as the sole om cer and owner of Company A on

annual reports filed with the Florida Secretary of State's Office since Octol r 26, 2017.

Company B is a Delaware lim ited partnership formed on ora% ut January 2, 2015,

with its principal place of business in M iami, Florida. It is a pooled investm ent vehicle and its

assets are managedby Company A(i.e., COGGINS). COGGINS sold limited partnership intereA

in Company B to investors such ms Investor A. COGGINS is the General Partner of Company B.

Com pany C is a Delaware lim ited partnership fonned on or about November 19,

20 19, with its principalplace of business in M iam i, Florida. Overtime, COGGINS began directing

investments under accounts and through investment docum ents in the name of Com pany C.
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COGGINS sometimes used Company B and Com pany C interchangeably when trying to sell

lim ited partnership interests to investors. COGGINS is the General Partner of Companyc.

Com pany B and Company C are referred to collectively herein as çtthe Fund.''

10. Investor A is a forei>  national who invested in the Fund in 2020.

Purpose of the Schem e and Artilice

The purpose of the scheme and artifice was for COGGINS to: (a) misapproprùte

investorfunds for his personalpurposes bytransferringmoney from the Fund's brokerage acœunt

to a non-brokerage bank accotlnt in excess of any av eed upon managem ent orperformance fees;

and (b) conceal from investors the Fund's performance losses and his misappropriation of Fund

assets to avoid detection and further his unjust enrichment.

The Schem e and Artince

Background

COGGINS started Company A in or around 2014 with Co-Founder A and Co-

Founder B. They started the Fund in or around early 20 15. Together they m arketed the Fund to

friends and business assœ iates as an algorithmic trading strater .

13. Co-Founder A and Co-Founder B resi> ed from Com pany A and the Fund in or

around late 20 16. COGGINS went on to operate Company A and to m anage the Fund entirely on

his own. 1

l Although Co-Founders A and B resigzed in 2016, they wcre not removed from a1l company

docum ents and accounts. For exam ple, they remained listed with COGGINS as authorked

sipzatories on a Company A bank accotmt from the time the accountwas opened in 20 14 thmul
at least September 2020. Bankingactivity and the listing of a prior residential address associated

with COGGINS on a M arch 2020 bank statement suggest COGGINS exclusively operated tlze

businesses followingthe resir ation of Co-Founders A and B.
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COGGINS continued to solicit investors to the Fund. He did so by contacting

potential investors through his network of current investors, friends, family, and fonner busizess

associates. He also provided information aboutthe Fund's perfonnancethrough Company A's

public website on the lntem et, which is a m eans and instrum entality of interstate commerce.

15. COOOINS also m arketed the Fund through Hedge Fund Data Service A, which

claimed to be able to provide information about the Fund to tens of thousands of accredited

investors.

l 6 .

ç'securities'' as defined in Title 15, United Shtes Code, Section 78c(a)(10). A limited partnersh:

interest was documented through a subscription aceement, limited partnership ameemenj and

other investor materials that COGGINS emailed to investors or uploaded through an online

document-sharing application. These materials descril d the Fund's fees, managementstruct= ,

COGGINS offered, and sold, lim ited partnership interests in the Fund, whichwav

purpose, and general operations. Managementfees were set, at most to be 2% of the investor's

capital accountper year with pedbrm ance fees capped at 20% of an investor's net profits each

year. M ost investors were told managem entfees would be capped annually at only 1% of thek

capital accountwith performancefees capped at 10%  of net profits.

17. From the Fund's inception in or around 20 lsthrough in or around February2020,

COGGINS obtained from at least ten investors approximately $1,600,000 through the sale of

lim ited partnerships in the Fund.

II. CO GGINS Defrauded Investor A By M aking False Statem ents and
Providing Fake Documents

18. lnvestor A was looking to diversify his investm ents when he first encountc d

COGGINS. lnvestorA discovered Company A and the Fund by visitingthe Company A website
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in late Decemberzo 19, when Investor A was in M iami, Florida. lnvestor A sent an email to the

address listed on the Company A website requesting inform ation aboutthe Fund.

19. On or about December 31, 20 19, COGGINS, identifying him self as lslnvestor

Relations,'' replied to lnvestor A through a Company A email account.Atthe tim e of the em ailr

COGGINS appears to have been the only employee of Com pany A or the Fund and the only

individual using the Company A em ail addresses. The December 31 em ail included a

t'perfbrmance sheet'' for November 2019that showz the Fund's 2019 year-to-date emminp to be

2 1.9% and positive annual eam ings for each year from 2016through 20 19.

20. On or about January 1, 2020, Investor A replied to ççlnvestor Relations''and asked

Company Ato provide (a) the value of the current assets under managementcsAuM'') and (b) a

copy of the Fund's prospectus and audit repolt 'Ihe same day, ttlnvestor Relations'' responded

that it would send a copy of the documents and noted GtAUM is a little over $100.'5 lnvestor A

understood this to mean thatthe Fund had over $100mil1ion in AUM .

2 1. On or about January 13, 2020, ttDavid C. CoDins, Phd CEO (Company AJ'' (sicl

responded to Investor A from the 'tlnvestor Relations'' email account. 2 Investor A and COGGW S

had phone conversations and continuedto exchazge em ailsthroughthe ççlnvestorRelations''email

account. Atno othertim e did Investor A communicate with any otherindividual who claimi to

represent Company A.

2 Notably, the Private Offering M em orandum that COGGINS provided to Investor A does not

include a PIZ.D. am ongCOGGIN S' many alleged accomplishm ents. COGGIN S is listed to only

hold a Mmster's Depee in Business Adm inistration. COGGINS was also the only individual
identified as amanageror representative of CompanyA orthe Fund in this offeringmem orandum.

By contrast, an investor deck that COGGINS later provided to lnvestor A notes that COGGINS

had aPIZ.D. in BehavioralFinance from aBusiness School in Spain andthatcom pany A em ployed

four individuals including COGGINS. I interviewed one of the listed tûemployeœ'' who indicntM
that he was never employedby the Fund or Company A.

5
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On or about January 8, 2020, COGGINS sent lnvestor A an em ail showing th2

Company B had been awarded 4t#1 Top Pedbrming Hedge Fund Equity Market Neutral - Past

Three Years.'' This award was purportedly Fanted by Hedge Fund Data Service A based on

financial pedbnuanœ as reported to it by COGGINS and CompanyA.

23. O1z or about January 16, 2020, COGGINS sent through the ççlnvestor Relations''

email account various investor m aterials including a subscription aveement and limited

partnership aveement. COGGINS noted in the email, çtltjhe feesfor Share Class A is

ltolmanagementl/lo%lpefo= rcel.'' The limited partnership aveementforthe Fund statedthat

its purpose ttis to serve as a fundthrough whichthe assets of its Partners will be utilized to invesl

hold, andtrade in securities and otherfinancial instruments and rights and optionsrelatingthereàx''

The aveem ent does not state that funds may be used to pay retum s to other investors or for

personal compensation to COGGINS in excœs of any aceed-to fees (1% and 10% of the Investor

A's annual holdings and net profits for respective management and performance fees).

24. lnvestorA requested an auditreportforthe Fund on atleastthree separate occasbrks

from January 1, 2020, through January 31, 2020.

On orabout January 22, 2020, InvestorA and COGGINS discussed the regulatoly

implications of the Fund having over $100 million AUM . Investor A wrote, td1 fully underse d

the 13F issue - as you mentioned the fund was above 100M I thoughgt) it would be publicly

available.'' COGGINS had explained thathe anticipated that he would begin havingto publish

theirpositions tçatthe beginning of the secondhalf of zozo''because of a Securities and Exchazw

Commission ('tSEC'') requirementthat requires public filinp tForm 13F)for investment advkels

who manage over $100 million in amets. In fack the total AUM forthe Fund had never been molv

thm1 approximately $2 million.
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On oraboutFebruary 2, 2020, CoGGlNsemailed InvestorA afake andfraudulent

:120 18 audit report'' forthe Fund. 'lhe audit report and opinion letterwere allegedly prepared by

an audit firm in M iam i, Florida. Records show this firm did not exist at its suted address, and a

phone number listed forthis firm was found to be associated with COGGINS. The audit repod

listed $52,904,796 in total assets for the Fund as of December 31, 20 18. ln reality, the Fund's

primary brokerage account held less than approximately $1.4 million as of that date.

The statements that COGGINS made to Investor A about the Fund's successful

pedbrmance, the existence of an independent audit report and the amount of assets under

management, were important and materialto Investor A. Having received these (false) assumnces

from COGGINS, Investor A decidedto invest in the Fund.

28. On or about February 3, 2020, Investor A sent si> ed copies of a subscription

apeement for a $200,000 invœtment in the Fund and a Founders Share Class Addendum to

COGGINS.

29. On or about Febrtzary 7, 2020, Investor A sent $200,000 by wire transfer from hk

bank to a bank account in the nam e of the Fund. Investor A expected to receive a lim ited

partnership interest in the Fund in exchange for his invœtm ent.

30. Company A transferred $199,500 of Investor A's money from the Fund's bank

account to its brokerage account on or about February 12, 2020. 'Ihe brokerage account's monthly

beginningbalancepriortothistransferwas only $17.32. Therewereno deposits intothe brokeraw

account from other investors from on or about Febrtzary 12 through on or about April 30, 2020.3

3 'lhere wms only one additionaldepositinto the brokerage account, occuningon oraboutFebruay

25, 2020. On the same date that COGGINS transferred $9,1* of lnvestor A's money from the
brokerage accountto the Company A bmzk account, $8,500 was transferredfrom the Company A

bank account backto the brokerage account. Otherthan this deposit, there were no other dem sits
into the brokerage account between Febnzary 1 and April 30, 2020.

7
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During that same period, COGGINS transferred approximately $44,200 from the

brokerage accountto Company A's bank account. Most of this money cam e from Investor A's

deposit. Investor A expected COGGINS to invest his money according to the terms of the

apeem ent, not divert it for otherpurposes. 'lhe amount COGGINS transferredto the Company A

account exceeded a 1% managem ent fee that Com pany A may othem ise have been entitled to

underthe tenns of the lim ited partnership aveem ent.

The net asset value of the assets in the brokerage account on or about April 30,

2020, was approximately $96,621. Nearly half of Investor A's original investmentwas lost due

to poorperformance, fees, andthe transferto the Com pany A bank account.

On or about April 30, 2020, Investor A requested a copy of his fully execlxffxzl

investm ent documents and a quarterly statem ent of the Fund's m onthly pedbrmance.

34. On or about M ay 15, 2020, COGGINS sent lnvestor A an em ail with executed

investm ent documents thatwere purported to have been si> ed by lnvestor A. Investor A did not

immediately review each page of the attached docum ents. COGGINS still had not provided a

statem ent of the Fund's first quarter perfonm nce.

35. On or about June 20, 2020, Investor A expressed concem to COGGINS that he had

notbeen provided any statements of the Fund's perform ance and still had notreceived a physkal

copy of the executed investm ent documents.

36. On or about June 20, 2020, Investor A scrutinized the executed investment

docum ents that COGGIN S emailed to him on or about M ay 15, 2020. lnvestorA had concems

that not a1l the documents that COGGINS provided to him were the same as the docum ents

Investor A sipzed and providedto COGGINS. Investor A believed his sir ature had beenfo> d

on som e of the pages.

8
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37. On or about June 26, 2020, Investor A confronted COGGINS aboutthe suspedeH

forgeries. COGGINS denied for/ng the documents. lnvestor A also demanded the immediate

return of his investment. COGGINS stopped respondingto Investor A and has not returned any

portion of lnvestor A's $200,000 investment.

38. COGGINS used the Company A bank accountthatreceived a portion of lnvestor

A's investm ent for both business and personal expenses. For exam ple, COGGINS paid

approximately $49,000inpaymentsto an adomeywhorepresentsthe Fund in aprivate shareholder

action. Personal expenses were also debited from the account, includingtransfers to a woman

believed to be COGGINS' girlfhend, as well as payments to restaurants, F ocery, pet, and

department stores. The month-endbalances forthis account were negative in a11 but one m onth

during this period,4 showing Company A and COGGINS relied on syphoningm oney from the

Fund's brokerage accountto meettheirexpenses.

Conclusion

39. Based onmy trainingand experienceyandthe informationprovidedinthis affidavk

I respectfully submitthatthere is probable cause to believe that from on or about Decem ber 31,

20 19, through on or aboutlune 26, 2020, in the Southem  District of Florida, and elsewhere, tlle

defendr t, DAVID C COGGINS, did unlawfully,willfully and knowingly, by use of m eans azd

instrumentalities of interstate commerce and the mails, directly and indirectly, use and em ploy

manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances in connectionwith the purchmse and sak of

a security, in contravention of Rule 10b-5 and Rule 10b5-1 of the Rules and Regulatiorks

promulgatedbythe United States Securities and Exchange Commission (codified in Title 17, Code

4 'lhe Company A bank account had a positive month-end balance of approximately $241 in or
aboutApril 2020.

9
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of Federal Regulations, Parts 240.10b-5 and 240. 10b5-1), and did (a) employ a device, scheme

and artificeto defraudktblmakeuntrue stattments of materialfacts and omitto state material facs

necessary in order to make the sutements madt. in light of the circumstanct under which th1

weremade,notmisleading',and (clengage in acts, practices and acourse of business, whichwollld

and did operatt as a fraud and dtctit upon prosy ctivt invtstors in conntction with tht purclm.V

of a security, in violation of Title 15
, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78m Title 17 CYe

of Federal Rtgulations, Part 240.10b-5.

FURTHER YOUR AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT.

1+ C. N um

United S tes Postal lnspector

Attested to by the Applicant in accordanœ with the requirements of
Fed. R. Crim. R 4.1 by Face Time this dayofDeceml rzozo.

x. : A.

H OM BLELISEO  M . REID
UNITED STATES M AGISTRATE JUDGE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
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